University of Leiden

Faculty of Humanities

Supervisor: Dr. Jeffrey Fynn-Paul

Second Reader: Dr. Mohammadbagher Forough



Master thesis on the topic:

Can Financial Speculation on Foodstuffs affect Food Prices?

A Critical Interpretive Synthesis of the Academic Literature

For the acquisition of the academic degree Master of Arts

Author: Damian Uebersax

Degree: International Relations

Specialization: Global Political Economy

Abstract

After the 2008 – 2009 food crisis, an academic debate emerged surrounding the question if financial speculation on foodstuffs (FSF) can affect the spot prices of food. This thesis consists of a critical interpretive synthesis of the academic literature on FSF. It analyses studies which have been instrumental in shaping the debate surrounding FSF according positionality theory guidelines in a *meta-data analysis*. The results of the meta-data analysis are then compared in a *refutational synthesis*, which concludes that the scholars which claim that FSF can affect food prices presented the more compelling argumentation according to positionality theory.

Acknowledgement

The author of this thesis wishes to thank Till Schmeing and Wolfgang Minatti for their supportive critiques. The author is grateful for the comments from his parents, Peter and Pascale Uebersax. The author is thankful for the suggestions from his supervisor, Dr. Jeffrey Fynn-Paul. Finally, the author appreciates the time Dr. Jeffrey Fynn-Paul and Dr. Mohammadbagher Forough invested in correcting this thesis.

Disclosure Statement

The author of this thesis declares to neither face any conflict of interest nor to have received funding for his research.

Word Count

14'987 words

"Economics: the only subject

in which the same questions

yield different responses every year."

(Danny Kaye, US-American actor and comedian, 1911-1987)

Table of contents

I.	In	ntroduction	1
I.	Li	terature Review	4
1	_)	The 2008 – 2009 and 2010 – 2011 food crises	4
2	<u>?</u>)	The history of financial speculation on foodstuffs	5
3	3)	The emergence of the debate surrounding FSF	7
4	l)	Scholars claiming that FSF contributed to the rise of food prices	8
5	5)	Economists claiming FSF did not contribute to the rise of food prices	9
II.	M	1ethodology	12
1	_)	Positionality theory	12
2	<u>?</u>)	Research Design	13
3	3)	Limitations	14
4	l)	Data Selection	15
III.		Meta-Data Analysis, Part 1: Studies reasoning that FSF cannot affect food prices	16
1	_)	Non-Econometric Studies	16
2	<u>?</u>)	Econometric Studies	18
	a)) Stoll and Whaley	18
	b)) Irwin	19
	c)	Summary	21
3	3)	Meta studies	21
	a)) Will, Prehn, Pies, and Glauben	21
	b)) Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman	23
	c)	Summary	25
4	l)	Critical Literature Review	25
5	5)	Critical Assessment	26
IV.		Meta-Data Analysis, Part 2: Studies reasoning that FSF can affect food prices	28
1	_)	Non-Econometric Studies	28
	a)) Masters and White	28
	b)) De Schutter	29
	c)	Summary	30
2	<u>?</u>)	Econometric Studies	31
	a)) Gilbert	31
	b)) Algieri	32
	c)	Summary	34
3	3)	Critical Literature Review	34
4	l)	Critical Assessment	35

Refutational Synthesis	36
Non-Econometric Studies	36
Econometric Studies	37
Meta-Studies	38
Critical Literature Reviews	39
Discussion	40
Conclusion	42
Bibliography	44
	Non-Econometric Studies Econometric Studies Meta-Studies Critical Literature Reviews Discussion Conclusion

I. Introduction

More than one billion people suffered from hunger during the worldwide food crises of 2008 – 2009 and 2010 – 2011. Multiple factors contributed to said food crises, including natural catastrophes, reduced offer due to food-stocking in emerging countries, slowing down in productivity growth rates, and de-stocking of grains during the 1990s (Headey and Fan, 2008; Timmer, 2015). Financial speculation on foodstuffs (FSF) has been considered as another potential major contributing factor to the crises (McMichael, 2009; Vander Stichele, Kerckhoffs, and Van Os, 2010; Xiong, 2014).

On the one hand, a group of scholars claimed that FSF can affect the spot prices of food. This group is composed of economists as well as other academic scholars (Chadwick, 2015; Cheng and Xiong, 2014; De Schutter, 2010; 2011; Esmel, 2016; Masters and White, 2008).

On the other hand, a group exclusively composed by economists criticized this hypothesis and maintained that FSF did not contribute to the increase in food prices during the food crises (Boyd, Harris, and Li, 2018; Haase, Seiler Zimmermann, and Zimmermann, 2016; Krugman, 2008; 2011; Sanders and Irwin, 2015; 2017; Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2013; 2016).

The two groups of scholars gave multiple explanations in order to elucidate how they found such strongly diverging results, the main reason being that no database reflects the global values of FSF perfectly and that no methodology adapted to such a situation exists (Sanders and Irwin, 2015; 2017; Will and Pies, 2017). Some authors mentioned that the differences in results within the academic literature could also be explained by looking at the ways studies complied with positionality theory guidelines (Chadwick, 2015; Esmel, 2016). Positionality theory assumes that any academic opinion is always biased but that scholars can minimize their biases by being aware of them and by discussing the limitations of their work (Amoureux and Steele, 2016; England, 1994). Similarly to any other researchers, economists are expected to respect positionality guidelines. Yet, Chadwick argued that, because economists lean on empirical methods, they earned the status of "experts" in the field of finance (Chadwick, 2015; Mitchell, 2002). Esmel further explained that most economists argue

that FSF cannot affect the spot prices of food and that the overall academic debate therefore seems to have shifted in their favor (Esmel, 2016).

However, Chadwick questioned the legitimacy of the expert-status enjoyed by economists as she does not believe that all economists limit the biases that can flaw their work. Specifically, she claims that they are subject to conflicts of interest similarly to any researcher and that they bias the literature by not disclosing these conflicts of interest (Amoureux and Steele, 2016; Chadwick, 2015). However, Chadwick's hypothesis has never been verified. Hence, in order to change this situation, this thesis will aim to answer the following research question:

Have positionality theory guidelines been respected by scholars participating in the debate concerning the influence of FSF on food prices and how did this affect their results?

By analyzing studies published between 2008 and 2018, this thesis will reason that the scholars arguing that financial speculation on foodstuffs can influence food prices present the more compelling argumentation. Principally, this claim results from two factors. On the one hand, economists disputing a causal link between FSF and food prices failed to comply to positionality theory guidelines in their research. On the other hand, economists presenting econometric tests which indicate that FSF can affect food prices did so by respecting positionality theory guidelines.

In order to provide evidence for this claim, this thesis will first discuss the available literature surrounding FSF and its effects on the 2008 – 2009 and 2010 – 2011 food crises. It will then discuss the methodology it will lean on in order to critically review said literature. Subsequently, it will present a meta-analysis of the academic debate surrounding FSF called *critical interpretive synthesis*. The first step of this critical interpretive synthesis is to critically analyze the different academic papers which discuss the influence of FSF on food prices, a process called a *meta-data analysis* (Timulak, 2014). The meta-data analysis will point out irregularities in the methodology of papers contributing to the debate surrounding FSF and analyze to what extent they respect positionality theory guidelines. In doing so, the meta-data analysis will not expect studies to respect all positionality theory guidelines perfectly because too much reflectivity would lead research in social sciences to be content-less and thus irrelevant (Baron, 2016). However, the meta-data analysis will aim to see if the authors of the

papers it reviews presented some understanding of their own biases and attempted to limit them. Following this meta-data analysis, this thesis will proceed to the second step of its critical interpretive synthesis called the *refutational synthesis* (Timulak, 2014). In this step, the thesis will compare the results it obtained in its meta-data analysis in order to point out which papers present the most compelling arguments. Although the qualitative nature of this critical interpretive analysis inherently links its results to the subjectivity of its author, its methodology has been shown to successfully provide critical reviews of the literature on a specific subject and can deliver previously unavailable and relevant academic arguments on said subject (Barnett-Page and Thomas, 2009; Dixon-Woods, Cavers, Agarwal, et al., 2007; Timulak, 2014). This thesis will provide such relevant arguments in two ways:

First, this thesis will show the necessity of a reconsideration of the academic debate surrounding FSF because a number of studies which contributed to said debate contain serious flaws and should be considered with much precaution. This reconsideration is needed because academic studies concerning FSF rely on previous research in order to support their argumentation without always questioning the relevance of the existing literature. As Border [et al.] have shown, this can lead to a situation in which more than 1'000 studies are made irrelevant if the errors of previous academic research are not pointed out, a scenario which this thesis aims to avoid (Border, Johnson, Evans, et al., 2019).

Second, the results of this thesis show that FSF is likely to contribute to increasing food prices during food crises and thus probably contributed to bringing half the world's population in a situation in which they risked hunger in 2009. Thus, this thesis could provide policy-makers an academic support so that they can implement limits on FSF in order to avoid similar situations in the future.

I. Literature Review

In order to illustrate the debate surrounding the influence of FSF on the prices of food, this chapter will start by describing the food crises of 2008 – 2009 and 2010 – 2011. It will then briefly describe the history of speculation on foodstuffs. Afterwards, the literature review will discuss the different stances on the influence of FSF on food prices. It will start by explaining the arguments of the economists who argue that financial speculation on commodities cannot influence food prices. Subsequently, this chapter will describe the arguments of the scholars who claim the contrary.

1) The 2008 – 2009 and 2010 – 2011 food crises

The food crises which took place in 2008 – 2009 and 2010 – 2011 were shaped by their worldwide reach. What is meant by food crisis is a situation in which food gets increasingly more expensive and eventually becomes unaffordable for the poorer members of society (Bar-Yam, Lagi, and Bar-Yam, 2015; Holt-Giménez and Patel, 2009; McMichael, 2009).

There were a number of damaging effects linked to the crises, above all the fact that more than a billion humans were simultaneously suffering from hunger at the height of the crisis. Beside health-issues amongst the concerned population, the food crises also led to violence and riots which sparked in countries in which the prices of food were becoming increasingly unaffordable. More than twenty countries faced such riots during the 2008 – 2009 food crisis and ten others faced large-scale protests against their respective governments (Hendrix, Haggard, and Magaloni, 2009; Bar-Yam, Lagi, and Bar-Yam, 2015; McMichael, 2009). In Haiti, the increase in food prices led the country's inhabitants to eat biscuits made out of mud and to attempt dangerous journeys to safer places in order to survive. The consequent riots and protests forced the Haitian president, Jacques-Édouard Alexis, to step down (Chadwick, 2015; Hendrix, Haggard, and Magaloni, 2009; Holt-Giménez and Patel, 2009).

While smaller than the previous food crisis, the 2010 – 2011 crisis nonetheless sparked large-scale protests of its own in Haiti and Argentina. In addition, South Africa faced major riots in the arguably biggest wave of violence since the end of the apartheid (Bar-Yam, Lagi,

and Bar-Yam, 2015). All these effects explain why scholars are looking for ways to avoid repetitions of such food crises.

A multitude of factors contributed to the global rise of food prices during the 2008 – 2009 and 2010 – 2011 food crises. The increased demand for food, mainly in China and India, was one of them. Its effects were amplified by an emerging demand for biofuels (Headey and Fan, 2008; McMichael, 2009; Timmer, 2015). At the same time, droughts, particularly in Australia, rose food prices from the supply side, simultaneously to productivity slowdowns in agriculture (Headey and Fan, 2008; Lagi, Bar-Yam, Bertrand, et al., 2011; McMichael, 2009). The depreciation of the world's major trading currency, the US dollar, as well as rising oil prices were external factors which also contributed to the rise in food prices, the former on the demand side and the latter on the supply side (Headey and Fan, 2008; Lagi, Bar-Yam, Bertrand, et al., 2011). In addition, countries such as India, Pakistan, Ukraine, Argentina, and China all restricted the exports of domestic grains and fertilizers after the early signs of the 2007 – 2008 *Great Crash* (Cheng and Xiong, 2014). Hence, 40% of the world's food was not available on the global market anymore, a factor which again rose the prices of food from the supply side (Headey and Fan, 2008).

One last potential major contributor to the increasing food prices is FSF, although its role in the food crises is intensively debated (De Schutter, 2010; Headey and Fan, 2008; Lagi, Bar-Yam, Bertrand, et al., 2011). However, in order to deliberate if FSF participated in the increase of food prices, the next section will explain what FSF is and how it came into existence.

2) The history of financial speculation on foodstuffs

Historically, farmers faced uncertainties concerning their income because fluctuations in food prices could occur unpredictably. Hence, farmers and their families were always at risk of seeing their living conditions deteriorate. In order to provide them with a certain level of security, forward contracts were invented. "Forwards" settle the price of a commodity in advance by selling the future harvest according to the price of the concerned commodity at

the time of the contract's signature¹. Such contracts assure farmers a certain revenue in case the spot price falls until the harvest is made. For this security, farmers usually have to pay a certain fee to their contractors, called "hedgers". In the cases in which the spot prices of the concerned commodity rise or stay steady, the hedgers make a profit (De Schutter, 2010; Spratt, 2013; Vander Stichele, Kerckhoffs, and Van Os, 2010). The first recorded speculation on corn harvest through a forward contract dates back to 1851 (Spratt, 2013). Yet, some authors believe that forwards existed in Europe already as early as the 17th century (Chadwick, 2015).

In order to allow for more clarity, future contracts, a formalized form of forwards, were established in the United States in 1865 (Spratt, 2013). Because "futures" were registered as speculative good, the risk that the hedgers would not end up paying for them was drastically reduced (Vander Stichele, Kerckhoffs, and Van Os, 2010). Conversely, because hedgers were taking on a large risk by signing future contracts, they were allowed to trade those to commercial speculators willing to take on the risks they involved (Spratt, 2013). The more the futures markets grew, the more actors became involved in order to make profits without actually aiming to become physically implicated in the selling food. Thus, the US limited their freedoms of actions and the involved actors in the 1930s (Esmel, 2016; Spratt, 2013). In the 1980s, speculation on foodstuffs was gradually allowed again on a bigger scale and in the early 2000s, the US implemented changes that allowed FSF to function similarly to any other form of financial speculation (Chapman, 2008; De Schutter, 2010; Esmel, 2016; Spratt, 2013). In Europe, financial markets were mainly self-regulated and speculation on foodstuffs trends followed the examples from the US but never preceded them (Esmel, 2016).

While these new legislations in the US certainly set the stage for an increase in FSF, other reasons participated in the exponential rise in speculation on commodities. The first such reason was the burst of the dot-com bubble in 2001, which pushed non-traditional speculators towards commodity index speculation because the latter had become more interesting financially than the stock market (Chadwick, 2015; Vander Stichele, Kerckhoffs, and Van Os, 2010). Afterwards, rising food prices from 2004 onwards made the commodity market increasingly attractive for speculators. When the early signs of a drastic increase in

-

¹ In some cases, the involved parties can also modify the contract-clauses and settle the prices according to different criteria (Vander Stichele, Kerckhoffs, and Van Os, 2010).

food prices appeared in 2006 and were followed by the *Great Crash* in 2007, speculation on commodities rocketed to unforeseen levels (Chadwick, 2015; McMichael, 2009; Spratt, 2013; Timmer, 2015; Xiong, 2014). This was once again a response from financial investors which considered the real estate and stock markets to not be profitable any longer. In the meantime, rising food prices during the 2008 – 2009 food crisis made FSF even more profitable. Thus, financial speculation on the commodities markets reached unprecedented heights (Girardi, 2012). Estimates from the Bank for International Settlements show that investments in FSF were 17 times as big in 2007 as they were in 1998 (De Schutter, 2010). In 2010 – 2011, during the next food crisis, FSF rose once again (*Africa Research Bulletin*, 2013; Girardi, 2012).

With FSF shooting up during the 2008 – 2009 food crisis, some authors wondered if FSF was contributing to the rocketing food prices. In order to discuss this hypothesis, the next section will elaborate on the emergence of the debate about the influence of FSF on the spot prices of food.

3) The emergence of the debate surrounding FSF

The first specific call for care against FSF which attracted worldwide attention was the "Masters Hypothesis", named in 2008 after its creator Michael Masters. At the time, futures were continuously yielding profits due to the food crisis and their prices were therefore increasing. According to Masters and his co-writer Adam White, this increase in future prices led spot food prices to increased as well (Cheng and Xiong, 2014; Liao-Etienne, Irwin, and Garcia, 2012; Masters and White, 2008).

The Masters Hypothesis rapidly sparked an academic debate. On the one hand, a multitude of authors agreed with Masters and White and called for regulations against excessive speculation on commodities (Chapman, 2008; De Schutter, 2010; 2011; FAO, 2010; FAO, IMF, WFP, et al., 2011; Holt-Giménez and Patel, 2009; Lagi, Bar-Yam, Bertrand, et al., 2011; McMichael, 2009; Timmer, 2009; 2010; Vander Stichele, Kerckhoffs, and Van Os, 2010). On the other hand, a number of authors claimed that FSF had no influence on food prices and was thus a morally safe activity (Headey and Fan, 2008; Irwin, Sanders, and Merrin, 2009; Liao-Etienne, Irwin, and Garcia, 2012; Krugman, 2008). Controversial opinions on the debate were possible because no data-set was available in which all worldwide transactions concerning FSF

were listed (Algieri, 2014; 2016; Emekter, Jirasakuldech, and Went, 2012; Gilbert and Pfuderer, 2014a; Lagi, Bar-Yam, Bertrand, et al., 2011; Masters and White, 2008; Timmer, 2009; 2012).

In order to eventually deliberate on the debate surrounding FSF, the following sections will describe both competing groups of scholars which discuss FSF.

4) Scholars claiming that FSF contributed to the rise of food prices

The first authors to have brought attention to the potential negative effects of FSF were, as previously mentioned, Masters and White (Masters and White, 2008). Their report's conclusion states that the sharp increase in food prices preceding the year 2008 was only possible because FSF contributed to that increase (Masters and White, 2008). The Masters Hypothesis attracted worldwide attention, notably thanks to Michael Masters' presentation of his ideas in front of the US Congress and the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC) (FAO, 2010; Irwin, 2012). Multiple authors supported the Masters Hypothesis in the following years and argued that financial speculation had contributed to the rising food prices. Most of these authors demanded more regulation on FSF (Chapman, 2008; De Schutter, 2010; 2011; FAO, 2010; FAO, IMF, WFP, et al., 2011; Holt-Giménez and Patel, 2009; McMichael, 2009; Timmer, 2010).

Once the food crises had come to an end, more studies were published which supported the claim that FSF can affect food prices by indicating that both food crises had led to the creation of financial bubbles in the commodities markets. A number of those studies provided econometric tests and economic models intended to provide a counter-argument for the economists that suggested that financial speculation cannot influence the spot prices of food. The methods used in those studies included causality tests, rank-order tests, contemporaneous tests, and other econometric calculations (Algieri, 2014; 2016; Bozorgmehr, Gabrysch, Müller, et al., 2013; Emekter, Jirasakuldech, and Went; 2012; Gilbert, 2010; Gilbert and Pfuderer, 2014a; Girardi, 2012; Lagi, Bar-Yam, Bertrand, et al., 2011; Timmer, 2009; 2012; Van Huellen, 2018). In addition to these econometric papers, a multitude of scholars did not use statistical computations but provided insights into the debate by

arguing from other perspectives (*Africa Research* Bulletin, 2013; Bar-Yam, Lagi, and Bar-Yam, 2015; Chadwick, 2015; Esmel, 2016; Goceljak, 2017; Spratt, 2013; Timmer, 2015; Xiong, 2014).

One specific request made by a multitude of scholars demanded governmental agencies to provide better data-availability and transparency concerning the commodity market (Emekter, Jirasakuldech, and Went, 2012; De Schutter, 2010; FAO, IMF, WFP, et al., 2011; Girardi, 2012; Spratt, 2013; Timmer, 2010). Indeed, because data-availability concerning FSF is limited, it was difficult for authors to produce robust arguments based on empirical means. Hence, better transparency and data-availability would allow them to get an improved understanding of the potential negative effects that FSF could have on food prices and on the regulations that were the best suited in order to limit such effects (Emekter, Jirasakuldech, and Went, 2012; FAO, IMF, WFP, et al., 2011; Girardi, 2012; Spratt, 2013).

Finally, Cheng and Xiong wrote a critical literature review discussing the different argumentations available across the academic debate surrounding FSF (Cheng and Xiong, 2014; Xiong, 2014). They reasoned that the arguments provided by authors which argued that FSF can affect food prices were more compelling than the arguments of scholars disagreeing with that claim. Thus, Cheng and Xiong concluded that FSF can probably affect food prices, although they stated that they could not be certain of that conclusion because of the lacking data-availability on FSF (Cheng and Xiong, 2014).

5) Economists claiming FSF did not contribute to the rise of food prices

After the formulation of the Masters Hypothesis, a multitude of economists argued that FSF was not capable to affect the prices of food. One scholar which rapidly did so by referring to economic theory was Paul Krugman (Krugman, 2008; 2011).

Once the 2008 – 2009 crisis had played out, the number of economists agreeing with Krugman increased significantly. Because they did not see any evidence for the existence of a financial bubble in commodities markets during the food crises, these authors started by arguing that scholars claiming that FSF had an influence on food prices did not present a compelling argument. Additionally, these economists maintained that speculation during extreme market volatility is a historically repeated pattern which never indicated a causality

link between such speculation and the value of the goods that were being speculated on (Heady and Fan, 2008; Irwin, Sanders, and Merrin, 2009). Further studies combined this economic intuition with causality tests or other econometric tests such as rank-order and rank correlations tests (Auerlich, Irwin, and Garcia, 2014; Booth, 2015; Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman, 2016; Irwin, 2012; Liao-Etienne, Irwin, and Garcia, 2012; Sanders and Irwin, 2015; 2017; Stoll and Whaley, 2010; 2011; Will and Pies, 2017; Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2013; 2016). Some of these economists acknowledged that causality tests were not ideal in order to estimate the influence of FSF on the spot prices of food because no recognized data-set existed which encompassed all FSF. Yet, they claimed that their tests represented the reality better than the studies concluding that FSF can influence food prices (Auerlich, Irwin, and Garcia, 2014; Sanders and Irwin, 2017).

Two notable quantitative meta-studies² have been published which claim to show that FSF cannot affect food prices. The meta-study written by Will [et al.] took into consideration studies which included econometric calculations and which were published by recognized journals between 2010 and 2012 (Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016). The meta-study written by Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman took into consideration a much broader range of papers (Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman, 2016).

Finally, Boyd, Harris, and Li wrote a critical literature review concerning the potential influence of FSF on the prices of food. In this paper, Boyd [et al.] discussed studies which contributed to the academic debate surrounding FSF. They concluded that the authors who argue that FSF cannot affect food prices present the better argumentation (Boyd, Harris, and Li, 2018).

According to Chadwick, economists who argue that FSF cannot affect food prices generally present their studies as if they were objective when writing them. She claims that this is due to the expert-status enjoyed by economists in the field of finance (Chadwick, 2015). Esmel develops by stating that this expert-status has played in favor of the economists

_

² A quantitative meta-study is a type of study which regroups the results of a large number of previous empirical studies on a specific subject. It then takes those results and produces a new empirical study based on them. This meta-study is then considered as a statistically relevant paper encompassing the results of all the sources it contains (Bozorgmehr, Gabrysch, Müller, et al., 2013). This procedure is mainly used in hard sciences and its applicability to social science has been disputed (Bozorgmehr, Gabrysch, Müller, et al., 2013; Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman, 2016).

claiming that FSF cannot affect food prices because most econometric papers on the subject concluded in their favor (Esmel, 2016). However, this hypothesis has not been verified.

Consequently, in order to provide necessary new insights in the accademic debate surrounding FSF, this thesis will review recognized papers discussing FSF and will critically asses if all scholars participating in the debate surrounding FSF minimized the biases they faced during their research. The next chapter will outline the methodology that this thesis will follow in order to pursue that objective.

II. Methodology

According to a number of observers, economists' contributions to the academic debate surrounding FSF are expected to be free of biases due to their reliance on empirical methods (Chadwick, 2015; Esmel, 2016). Because a majority of those economists claim not to have found a causal relation between increasing FSF and rising food prices, the debate has turned in their favor (Boyd, Harris, and Li, 2018; Chadwick, 2015; Esmel, 2016). However, several authors have questioned this presumed neutrality and have argued that economists can be just as biased as other scholars if they have personal interests in the field of finance but did not prove this hypothesis (Chadwick, 2015; Esmel, 2016). This chapter will explain how this thesis will verify Chadwick and Esmel's hypothesis by providing a critical interpretive synthesis and by leaning on positionality theory.

1) Positionality theory

Positionality theory is a set of academic guidelines which require researchers to be reflective on their work and to actively minimize the biases which originate from their subjectivity (Amoureux and Steele, 2016). England describes reflectivity as "[the] self-critical sympathetic introspection and the self-conscious *analytical* scrutiny of the self as researcher" (England, 1994, 244). Although such reflective behavior on one's work is expected, Timothy Mitchell discussed how researchers often aim to make their work look as objective as possible and discuss their research as a neutral description of reality rather than their personal work (Mitchell, 2002).

Such a lack of reflective behavior amongst researchers is what Chadwick and Esmel specifically criticize concerning the academic debate surrounding FSF. According to them, scholars who claim that FSF influences food prices are more inclined to be reflective on their work and to call for deeper insights in order to be certain of their results than economists arguing the contrary (Chadwick, 2015; Esmel, 2016). In order to verify this hypothesis, next section will describe this thesis' research design.

2) Research Design

Meta-analyses are reviews of the literature of qualitative nature. This thesis will take the form of a meta-data analysis which was developed by Dixon-Woods [et al.] and is called the *critical interpretive synthesis* method (Barnett-Page and Thomas, 2009; Dixon-Woods, Cavers, Agarwal, et al., 2007; Timulak, 2014). As Hart described it, a meta-analysis permits its author to "dig beneath the surface of an argument and be able to see the origins of a piece of research or theory" (Hart, 1998, 111).

The first step of this critical interpretive synthesis consists of a qualitative meta-study³ called a *meta-data analysis*. A meta-data analysis is a study which analyzes a multitude of previously published research papers and then proceeds to review these sources critically based on a method appropriate to answer its research question (Barnett-Page and Thomas, 2009; Timulak, 2014). This thesis will analyze the reviewed papers due to their methodology and by drawing from positionality theory guidelines⁴ (Amoureux and Steele, 2016). The meta-data analysis will not expect all criteria to be respected perfectly but will search for some understanding of its guidelines. Indeed, Baron complements positionality theory by stating that "self-critique cannot go on indefinitely because at some point positionality will stop it" (Baron, 2016, 195).

The methodology of the meta-data analysis of this thesis will lean on guidelines for critical reviews provided by Adams [et al.]. The latter reasons that a critical review should follow specific objectives in order to control if positionality theory was respected (Adams, Khan, Raeside, et al., 2007):

• Understanding the limitations of a study's methodology and its effects on that research;

³ The term *meta-study* could lead to confusion in this thesis. Indeed, in quantitative research, the term meta-study describes a research paper which empirically compares the results of previously published empirical studies (Bozorgmehr, Gabrysch, Müller, et al., 2013). Two such meta-studies will be reviewed in this thesis (Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman, 2016; Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016). Thus, the term meta-study will be used to describe quantitative meta-studies while this thesis will describe its critical part with the more specific term *meta-data analysis*.

⁴ The considered positionality theory guidelines will examine the ways authors reflected on their biases and the limitations of their work as well as the ways they disclosed potential conflicts of interest they could suffer from due to their backgrounds.

 Recognizing what purpose an author aimed to achieve when writing his research;

 Recognizing the potential biases an author might try to hide, notably by not reporting his previous research and his potential conflicts of interest or by claiming that a certain opinion is dominant across the literature in order to strengthen his argumentation while this is not the case.

The second step of the critical interpretive synthesis is called a meta-ethnography. In this thesis, this second step will take the form of a *refutational synthesis*. A refutational synthesis compares the research of scholars presenting diverging arguments on a specific academic debate and discusses them by explaining which group of scholars present the overall more compelling argumentation (Barnett-Page and Thomas, 2009; Noblit and Hare, 1988; Timulak, 2014). In the case of this thesis, the refutational synthesis will compare the results obtained in the meta-data analysis.

3) Limitations

The main limitation of a critical interpretative synthesis is that its methodology relies on a qualitative assessment of the discussed literature and is thus inherently linked to its author and his background (Timulak, 2014). As such, this thesis is bound to be biased by its author's subjectivity (Amoureux and Steele, 2016). Hence, this thesis will attempt to limit such potential biases by selecting papers which were instrumental in shaping the debate on FSF and by applying a common methodic to the different sections of the meta-data analysis.

Another limitation a critical interpretative synthesis can face is that it compares studies based on the understanding its author has of the latter. Some critiques have pointed out that the interpretative nature of such a procedure does not provide the best predispositions for the subsequent comparison between the analyzed studies (Timulak, 2014). Nonetheless, critical interpretive syntheses have been successful in providing satisfactory critical reviews of the literature and can thus offer previously unavailable insights on a specific subject (Barnett-Page and Thomas, 2009).

A final limitation faced by critical interpretive syntheses is linked to the way the sources it analyzes are selected which will be discussed in the next section.

4) Data Selection

In order to limit the range of analyzed studies, this thesis will only take papers which contributed to the academic debate surrounding FSF⁵ before January 2019 into consideration. Because of the limited size of this thesis, it will have to restrict itself to analyze some of the most relevant contributions to the academic debate surrounding FSF. While this thesis aims to minimize potential biases by selecting papers which were instrumental in shaping the debate, this selection remains subjective to a certain degree.

In order to represent the academic debate concerning the influence of FSF on the spot prices of food adequately, both parts of the meta-data analysis will first analyze the work of scholars which did not provide econometric evidence legitimizing their opinion on FSF but were instrumental in bringing attention to the academic debate on the subject. They will then discuss econometric studies which strongly influenced the debate. Consequently, the first part of the meta-data analysis will discuss two meta-studies. Finally, both parts of the meta-data analysis will examine one critical literature review each.

_

⁵ All papers written by a recognized academic scholar as well as the reports published by International Organizations and Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs) which respect academic norms such as satisfactory citations of sources are considered as part of the academic debate surrounding FSF.

III. Meta-Data Analysis, Part 1: Studies reasoning that FSF cannot affect food prices

This chapter will critically review the academic contributions of economists who claimed that FSF cannot affect food prices. It will start by discussing the contributions made by Krugman, one of the worldwide most renowned economists. It will then present a critical analysis of the work of Irwin, Stoll, and Whaley, three economists which profoundly affected the debate surrounding FSF. Afterwards, the following sections will discuss two meta-studies in which economists claim that FSF did not affect food prices, written by Will [et al.] and Haase [et al.]. Finally, in order to see how the knowledge created by the authors discussed in this chapter affected the academic debate surrounding FSF, this chapter will look at a critical literature review written by Boyd [et al.].

1) Non-Econometric Studies

One of the first economists to doubt the existence of a causal relation between FSF and the spot prices of food was Paul Krugman, who this thesis will take as example for the non-econometric studies which claimed that FSF cannot affect food prices. Krugman emphasized that FSF could not directly affect food prices (Krugman, 2008). Moreover, Krugman doubted that FSF could affect food prices at all because, according to him, no econometric test showed convincingly that FSF had contributed to increase the prices of food (Krugman, 2011). As multiple authors later confirmed, financial speculation influences neither the demand nor the supply of agricultural commodities and can thus not directly affect food prices (Chadwick, 2015; Girardi, 2012; Timmer, 2015). However, Krugman omitted to make clear in his statement that FSF could have an indirect effect on the spot prices of food but that he did not believe that such indirect effects existed (Chadwick, 2015; Krugman, 2008; 2011; Timmer, 2015).

In his articles, Krugman relies on economic theory in order to justify his argumentation. This methodology is as adequate as any other methodology in order to participate in the debate surrounding FSF. Nevertheless, when looking at Krugman's articles, this meta-data analysis found multiple shortcomings according to positionality theory.

First, when Krugman declared that no convincing econometric proof had shown that FSF can affect food prices, he did so without mentioning that multiple studies had included econometric tests indicating that FSF can affect food prices (Cheng and Xiong, 2014; Esmel, 2016; Timmer, 2009). In so doing, he failed to present an adequate representation of the academic literature available to him, a procedure which according to Adams [et al.] is inadequate in academic research and constitutes a methodological inadequacy (Adams, Khan, Raeside, et al., 2007).

Second, by blurring the line between his opinion and a conclusion based on academic research, Krugman tricked his readers into believing that his opinion was based on in-debt scholarly work. By doing so, Krugman failed to respect positionality guidelines (Amoureux and Steele, 2016; England, 1994). While his articles concerning FSF were published as opinion-pieces and are thus protected by the potential excuse that they did not aim to be academic, multiple authors explained that this excuse should not be valid because those articles nonetheless shaped the academic debate (Chadwick, 2015; Esmel, 2016; Spratt, 2013).

Third, Krugman's specific demand for econometric proof meant that he was not ready to acknowledge the value of any non-economic contribution to the debate surrounding FSF (Krugman, 2011). This position indicates that Krugman valued the expert-status that he and other economists were given with respect to financial speculation on commodities (Mitchell, 2002). Krugman seems to have been aware of this expert-status and shows this by adopting a confronting dialectic of superiority in his articles. Indeed, he named his 2008 article "Speculative nonsense once again" and included an oversimplified straight-lined offer and demand graph in order to describe the worldwide commodity market in his 2011 article (Krugman, 2008; 2011).

All in all, Krugman failed to respect positionality theory in a multitude of ways even though this meta-data analysis did not expect him to be perfectly reflective on his subjectivity. Hence, Krugman's articles should be considered with much precaution.

2) Econometric Studies

The following sections will look at authors who used econometric studies in order to claim that FSF cannot affect food prices.

a) Stoll and Whaley

Hans Stoll and Robert Whaley are two economists which highly influenced the academic debate surrounding FSF (Boyd, Harris, and Li, 2018; Sanders and Irwin, 2017; Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016). In their studies, Stoll and Whaley argued that FSF cannot affect food prices and backed this claim up with econometric evidence (Stoll and Whaley, 2010; 2011).

When discussing the existing literature on the debate surrounding FSF, Stoll and Whaley indicated that they reflected on the work of other authors when writing their papers. By doing so, they satisfactorily estimated the biases primary sources they used could include and respected positionality theory (Amoureux and Steele, 2016). However, the same cannot be said for the entirety of their research.

First, Stoll and Whaley did not mention any limitations that their work faced (Stoll and Whaley, 2010; 2011). Therefore, these two economists indicated that they did not reflect on the potential flaws the tests they provided could have encountered and that they potentially did not limit the biases that could have arisen during their research-process (England, 1994). It is possible that Stoll and Whaley relied on the expert-status they enjoyed as economists in the field of finance in order to make their research look as objective as possible (Mitchell, 2002).

Second, Stoll and Whaley mentioned whenever their studies were realized under direct funding (Stoll and Whaley, 2010; 2011). However, these economists failed to disclose their backgrounds. Indeed, Stoll has worked for a multitude of financial trading groups and held the Public Director position of Interactive Brokers Group, the largest internet trading platform in the US, between 2008 and 2017 (Interactive Brokers Group Inc., 2016; Vanderbilt University, 2011). Whaley, for his part, created the Market Volatility Index of the Chicago Board Options Exchange, a major center for commodity trading (Rapier, 2017). While Stoll and Whaley's backgrounds do not mean that these authors were bound to support the idea that

FSF cannot affect commodity prices, the fact that the authors did not mention potential conflicts of interest that could arise from their other activities indicates that they failed to respect positionality guidelines (Amoureux and Steele, 2016).

This section has shown how Stoll and Whaley failed to respect multiple positionality theory guidelines when writing their studies. The next section will look at the studies of another renowned economist, Irwin, in order to see if he respected positionality theory more adequately.

b) Irwin

Scott Irwin published an extensive amount of studies concerning FSF (Auerlich, Irwin, and Garcia, 2014; Irwin, 2012; Irwin, Sanders, and Merrin, 2009; Liao-Etienne, Irwin, and Garcia, 2012; Sander and Irwin, 2015; 2017). This extensive contribution to the academic debate concerning the potential influence of FSF on food prices has allowed him to be highly recognized in this academic field (Chadwick, 2015; Cheng and Xiong, 2014; Esmel, 2016; Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman, 2016).

Irwin's studies rely on econometric tests estimating if FSF can affect the prices of food (Auerlich, Irwin, and Garcia, 2014; Irwin, 2012; Irwin, Sanders, and Merrin, 2009; Liao-Etienne, Irwin, and Garcia, 2012; Sander and Irwin, 2015; 2017). These tests rely on recognized methodologies and are thus non-controversial. However, multiple aspects of Irwin's research limit the validity of his studies.

First, the literature reviews of Irwin's early papers only discussed the work of other economists presenting empirical studies. Additionally, Irwin only mentioned unsuccessful tests for a potential causality between FSF and the rise of food prices (Irwin, 2012; Kocieniewski, 2013; Liao-Etienne, Irwin, and Garcia, 2012). When this aspect was criticized for creating a biased image of the debate surrounding FSF, Irwin acknowledged the existence of successful causality tests between FSF and rising spot prices of food in footnotes while continuing to highlight the unsuccessful ones (Auerlich, Irwin, and Garcia, 2014). In his latest papers, Irwin discussed empirical papers which supported both sides of the debate surrounding FSF. However, he discredited the work of authors which provided evidence showing causality between rises in FSF and increases in food prices. Specifically, Irwin pointed

out that no study was able to produce an econometric test indicating a direct effect of FSF on food prices. Yet, similarly to Krugman, Irwin failed to mention that scholars only attempt to show that FSF indirectly affects the prices of commodities (Sanders and Irwin, 2017; Timmer, 2015). This evolution in Irwin's studies shows that he never presented a reality-adequate representation of the literature in his papers, an aspect which constitutes a methodological shortcoming (Adams, Khan, Raeside, et al., 2007).

Second, Irwin criticized the studies which did not use data provided by the CFTC when proceeding to econometric tests. Yet, the CFTC declared to be intrigued by the Masters Hypothesis and is thus unlikely to claim that the data it provides should be considered as the only database good enough in order to empirically evaluate if FSF can contribute to increases in food prices since no database adequately covers all FSF (Kocieniewski, 2013). This misrepresentation of the accuracy of different databases concerning FSF constitutes another methodologically questionable aspect of Irwin's research.

Third, Irwin claims to produce an objective research because he relies on econometrics in his work, using the expert-status enjoyed by economists in the field of finance to his advantage (Kocieniewski, 2013). Because it is impossible in social sciences for a researcher to remain objective to his work, Irwin's argumentation shows that he failed to reflect on his personal background and interests when writing his papers (Mitchell, 2002). As such, he failed to respect positionality theory guidelines.

Fourth, Scott Irwin faced serious criticism in an extensive *The New York Times* article by David Kocieniewski for hiding his large financial interests in relation with financial speculation on agricultural commodities (Kocieniewski, 2013). Indeed, Kocieniewski listed the consultancy roles Irwin has been holding for multiple hedge funds, investment banks, and other speculating institutions. Kocieniewski also pointed out that the Chicago Mercantile Exchange, a major commodities exchange center, is highly involved in the business school of the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, where Irwin is employed. This involvement includes spending over a million dollars in donations to the University together with major commodities traders (Kocieniewski, 2013). By not disclosing that information in his studies, Irwin decided to hide his personal conflicts of interest. As such, Irwin failed to minimize the potential biases that his background could have on his work to a large extent.

c) Summary

The shortcomings found in econometric studies which claimed that FSF cannot affect food prices demonstrate the reasons for which Irwin, Stoll, and Whaley's contributions to the academic debate surrounding FSF should be considered with much precaution. Indeed, these studies all comprised methodological flaws and failed to respect positionality theory guidelines satisfactorily. In order to present the influence that the work of these economists had on the academic debate surrounding FSF, the next two sections will each discuss a quantitative meta-study.

3) Meta studies

a) Will, Prehn, Pies, and Glauben

The first meta-study this thesis will review was written by Will [et al.]. The first part of this meta-study only takes peer-reviewed papers published by specific econometric journals between 2010 and 2011 into consideration. The second part of the study reviews papers based on econometric tests published in the same years but by less renowned publishers (Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016).

Will [et al.] explain that the lack of satisfactory data-sets available on global FSF values limits the relevance of single studies, an opinion shared by numerous scholars (Boyd, Harris, and Li, 2018; Cheng and Xiong, 2014; Emekter, Jirasakuldech, and Went, 2012). Will [et al.] indicated that this pushed them to write their meta-study (Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016). As such, Will [et al.] showed that they reflected on the available academic literature on FSF (Amoureux and Steele, 2016). Nonetheless, their meta-study presents multiple methodological flaws and failures to respect positionality guidelines.

First, a meta-study in social science is expected to summarize an academic debate and to argue which arguments are the most compelling (Boyd, Harris, and Li, 2018; Cheng and Xiong, 2014; Xiong, 2014). However, Will [et al.] listed studies discussing FSF on food prices according to econometric computations based on times-series analyses and assumed that if a majority of these studies argue a certain way, this is going to be academically relevant (Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016). This assumption methodologically limits the meta-study's relevance.

Furthermore, the authors did not explain why they limited themselves to studies based on times-series analyses and did not take other econometric tests or non-econometric studies into account (Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016).

Second, Irwin contributed to six studies the first part of the meta-study reviewed. The other two were written by Stoll and Whaley (Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016). A meta-study which only accounts for the arguments of three scholars cannot constitute satisfactory evidence. On the one hand, the sample of authors is too small in order to constitute a convincing meta-study. On the other hand, the lack of reflectivity Irwin, Stoll, and Whaley applied to their own work when writing their research also limits the relevance of the findings made by the first part of the meta-study.

Third, in the second part of their meta-study, Will [et al.] present 19 papers, only ten of which argue that FSF cannot affect food prices. Such a small majority of papers should not lead the meta-study's authors to claim that the literature provides evidence that FSF does not affect food prices (Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016). Additionally, Will [et al.] present one of Irwin's considered papers as arguing that FSF has some effects on food prices (Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016). However, the paper in question argued that FSF had no effects on the spot prices of food (Irwin, 2012; Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016). These errors show that the meta-study faces some severe methodological shortcomings.

Fourth, Bozorgmehr [et al.] have looked at the data provided by Will [et al.] in their meta-study and have attempted to recreate adequate computations with methods traditionally used in meta-studies. In this review, Bozorgmehr [et al.] argued that the data provided by Will [et al.] would suggest that FSF does affect food prices (Bozorgmehr, Gabrysch, Müller, et al., 2013; Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016).

Fifth, a considerable amount of the papers which provided econometric evidence indicating that FSF can affect food prices explained that their results did not constitute definitive proof for such an effect. Conversely, most authors claiming the opposite did not ask for such careful consideration of their results. Will [et al.] interpreted this difference as an indication for the fact that the econometric tests which showed that FSF can affect food prices were less relevant than other empirical studies (Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016). However, if authors demand for their accademic research to be carefully interpretated, they indicate their

awareness of the potential positional biases included in their studies and have reflected on them (Amoureux and Steele, 2016; England, 1994). Will [et al.] thus misunderstood this carefulness and showed that they were not familiar with positionality theory guidelines.

Seventh, Will [et al.] failed to mention if and how they attempted to limit their own biases when writing their meta-study. Hence, their meta-study did not respect positionality guidelines (Amoureux and Steele, 2016; Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016). Moreover, the fact that the previous points showed how Will [et al.] biased the results of their research indicates that these authors did not attempt to create a paper as objective as possible.

For all these reasons, the meta-study written by Will [et al.] faced a considerate amount of criticism (Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman, 2016). Nonetheless, this meta-study is now part of the literature arguing that FSF does not affect food prices and was even cited by Irwin (Boyd, Harris, and Li, 2018; Sanders and Irwin, 2016). The criticism faced by the meta-study written by Will [et al.] had another effect, as it was used as a justification by Haase [et al.] in order to write a second meta-study on the debate surrounding FSF (Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman, 2016).

b) Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman

The meta-study written by Haase [et al.] regroups the results of 100 previously published papers which discussed the effects of FSF on the spot prices of food. In their selections of papers, the authors of this meta-study did not limit themselves to studies published in recognized econometric journals, although Haase [et al.] also only took empirical studies into consideration (Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman, 2016).

Haase [et al.] mentioned that their subjectivity was bound to have played a role in their selection of papers. Indeed, these economists explain that it is not possible to be exempt from any biases when making such a selection (Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman, 2016). As they clarify, these authors attempted to select sources based on their relevance for the debate and the academic rigorousness of their content. Therefore, Haase [et al.] have satisfactorily considered their positionality when selecting the studies they would review (England, 1994). Yet, their meta-study is not free of flaws.

First, the meta-study written by Haase [et al.] relies on the assumption that if a majority of reviewed empirical studies share an opinion on FSF, the latter has to be accurate (Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman, 2016). However, this assumption is inapplicable to social sciences because new academic discoveries can disprove a much larger previous literature on a specific subject, as Border [et al.] showed when their results invalidated the findings of over 1'000 studies (Border, Johnson, Evans, et al., 2019; Yong, 2019).

Second, the constant contributions to the academic debate surrounding FSF by authors such as Irwin, Stoll, and Whaley skew quantitative meta-studies towards these authors' opinions (Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman, 2016). Such a phenomenon is all the more problematic when some of the overrepresented scholars in the meta-study did not respect positionality guidelines when producing their work. Therefore, the meta-study written by Haase [et al.] has a limited relevance.

Third, Haase [et al.] reason in their meta-study that as around 25% of the literature argued that there is a positive influence between FSF and food prices and 25% argued that there is a negative influence of FSF on food prices, those results cancel each other out. Hence, the authors claim, it is unlikely that FSF influences food prices (Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman, 2016). This assumption is questionable, notably because Haase [et al.] present a dataset with an average of 50% of scholars claiming that FSF affects food prices.

Fourth, Haase [et al.] classified the papers analyzed in their meta-study by valuing papers which pretended to provide statistical proof concerning the influence of FSF on food prices much more than papers being careful with their conclusions (Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman, 2016). However, a bigger care when making conclusions based on econometric calculations can be linked to a consideration of positionality theory by the authors of the concerned papers (England, 1994).

Fifth, the president of the Swiss Confederation explained in a television debate in 2016 that Haase [et al.] had been commissioned by the Swiss government to deliver a meta-study on the influence of FSF on food prices. The government had done so because it wanted academic support before Switzerland voted in 2016 on an initiative to forbid FSF to which the government was opposed (*Arena*, 2016). However, Haase [et al.] did not mention this

potential conflict of interest in their meta-study and thus failed to comply with positionality theory (Amoureux and Steele, 2016).

c) Summary

The meta-studies written by Will [et al.] and Haase [et al.] have shown how the work of Irwin, Stoll, and Whaley had real repercussions on the literature. Furthermore, these meta-studies included methodological shortcomings of their own and significantly failed to respect positionality guidelines. They should thus also be considered causiously.

The following section will discuss one critical literature review which claims that FSF did not affect food prices. It will do so in order to show how the work of the previously analyzed papers shaped the academic debate concening FSF. It will also analyze this literature review according to positionality theory, in order to see if a contribution which respects positionality theory can nonetheless be detrimental to the overall academic debate surrounding FSF.

4) Critical Literature Review

The literature review written by Boyd [et al.] qualitatively discusses a large number of studies. This literature review presents a multitude of different arguments and explains what factors convinced its authors to think that FSF cannot affect food prices. The methodology of this critical literature review allowed its authors to produce reflective academic work attributable to multiple characteristics (Boyd, Harris, and Li, 2018).

First, the qualitative methodology used by Boyd [et al.] is adapted to the subject they discuss as the authors were able to evaluate which previously published studies contributing to the debate surrounding FSF presented the most compelling arguments.

Second, Boyd [et al.] acknowledged in their study that no research on the influence of FSF on the spot prices of food can be considered as definitive proof because of the lack of an all-encompassing data-sets on FSF (Boyd, Harris, and Li, 2018). By recognizing this aspect of the literature, Boyd [et al.] indicated their awareness of potential biases present in the

literature and acknowledged that their literature review could be affected by them, reflecting satisfyingly in their work and respecting positionality theory guidelines (Amoureux and Steele, 2016).

Third, by acknowledging that their critical literature review is of qualitative nature and is hence linked to their subjectivity, Boyd [et al.] indicated that they are aware of the potential biases their work could have suffered from (Boyd, Harris, and Li, 2018). Such biases are not problematic in academic research because all scholars are subject to them. However, acknowledging their existence is essential as it shows that the authors of academic research are likely to have attempted to limit them (Amoureux and Steele, 2016).

Nevertheless, the literature review written by Boyd [et al.] also faced a specific flaw. Indeed, it only took the work published by economists into consideration without explaining this sources-selection (Boyd, Harris, and Li, 2018). By doing so, it contributed to the strengthening of the expert-status enjoyed by economists in the debate surrounding FSF (Chadwick, 2015; Mitchell, 2002).

All in all, the critical literature review written by Boyd [et al.] respected positionality theory satisfactorily since no work is expected to respect it perfectly (Baron, 2016).

5) Critical Assessment

The studies written by Krugman, Irwin, Stoll, Whaley, Will [et al.] and Haase [et al.] all included serious shortcomings in their methodology and in their compliance with positionality theory guidelines. Nonetheless, they significantly shaped the academic literature surrounding FSF by creating evidence showing that FSF cannot affect food prices. The literature review written by Boyd [et al.] exemplifies how a later study can then lean on the available academic literature written Irwin, Stoll, Whaley, and Pies⁶ (Boyd, Harris, and Li, 2018). Yet, as the previous sections have shown, the papers written by Irwin, Stoll, Whaley, and Pies need to be considered with precaution. Consequently, the literature review written by Boyd [et al.], which did satisfactorily respect positionality theory guidelines, is also flawed and should be considered with precaution because it is based on the biased work of other scholars. Indeed,

-

⁶ Ingo Pies was one of the contributors to the meta-study written by Will [et al.].

Border [et al.] showed that academic research leaning on flawed primary sources should be considered with precaution because they replicate the flaws of their sources (Border, Johnson, Evans, et al., 2019).

IV. Meta-Data Analysis, Part 2: Studies reasoning that FSF can affect food prices

In order to represent the academic debate surrounding FSF satisfactorily, this chapter will constitute the second part of the meta-data analysis and will review highly recognized studies which claimed that FSF can affect food prices. It will start by discuss the work of three scholars who participated in the debate surrounding FSF with non-econometric means, Masters, White, and De Schutter. It will then discuss the work of two economists who wrote econometric studies, Gilbert and Algieri. Finally, it will analyze a critical literature review written by Cheng and Xiong.

1) Non-Econometric Studies

a) Masters and White

Michael Masters and Adam White wrote a report which brought much attention to the idea that FSF could contribute to rising food prices (Auerlich, Irwin, and Garcia, 2014; Boyd, Harris, and Li, 2018; Cheng and Xiong, 2014).

In their report, these economists disclosed information about their background and their involvements in financial companies, indicating their subjectivity linked to the topic of FSF. Thus, they respected the positionality theory guidelines which require authors to disclose the potential conflicts of interest they could suffer from (England, 1994). However, Masters and White's report also included some methodological shortcomings and failures to respect positionality guidelines.

First, Masters and White were criticized for describing the correlation they found between rising FSF and increasing food prices as proof for the existence of a causalit relation between the two factors (Boyd, Harris, and Li, 2018; Cheng and Xiong, 2014; Sanders and Irwin, 2017). Yet, no empirical computation can be considered as substantive proof for an effect of FSF on the spot prices of food because of lacking data-availability on the subject (Chadwick, 2015; Gilbert and Pfuderer, 2014; Spratt, 2013). Consequently, Masters and White are unlikely to have satisfactorily reflected on the limitations of the methodology they

employed (Amoureux and Steele, 2016). Michael Masters' repeated presentations of his results as proof, notably in front of the US Congress, support this hypothesis (Irwin, 2012).

Second, Masters and White relied on their background as financial economists in order to present themselves as experts on the subject of FSF. Potentially, this behavior was supposed to legitimize their claim (Mitchell, 2002). Aware of that aspect, Irwin regularly pointed out that Masters and White's background had served to legitimize the Masters Hypothesis (Auerlich, Irwin, and Garcia, 2014; Liao-Etienne, Irwin, and Garcia, 2012; Sanders and Irwin, 2017).

Third, Masters and White failed to discuss their subjectivity and how the latter could have affected their results. As a consequence, these two economists neglected to clarify how they could have minimized the biases that might have flawed their report (Masters and White, 2008). Therefore, Masters and White did not reflect satisfactorily on their work and failed to respect positionality theory guidelines (Amoureux and Steele, 2016).

Because of these multiple shortcomings in Masters and White's report, their work has been discussed with much precaution in the literature (Boyd, Harris, and Li, 2018; Chadwick, 2015; Cheng and Xiong, 2014; Sanders and Irwin, 2017). Nevertheless, Masters and White's report was instrumental in bringing attention to the potential influence of FSF on food prices. The same is true for De Schutter, the author whose work the next section will review.

b) De Schutter

Olivier De Schutter was the special rapporteur for food within the United Nations (UN) between 2008 and 2014 (Chadwick, 2015). His reports were instrumental in bringing attention to the debate surrounding FSF (Auerlich, Irwin, and Garcia, 2014; Chadwick, 2015; De Schutter, 2010; 2011). In his research, De Schutter pointed out correlations between large increases in FSF and in the spot prices of food (De Schutter, 2010).

De Schutter disclosed his role as UN special rapporteur for food in his studies, indicating his subjectivity (De Schutter, 2010; 2011). Because any researcher produces biased work due to his background, this subjectivity did not restrict him from writing academic studies (Mitchell, 2002). Nonetheless, by acknowledging his role within the United Nations,

De Schutter respected positionality guidelines as he indicated that he faced a potential conflict of interest when discussing FSF (England, 1994). Nevertheless, De Schutter's contributions to the debate surrounding FSF faced several shortcomings in terms of methodology and with respect to positionality theory.

First, De Schutter's argumentation was based on pointing out correlations rather than causalities between the rise of FSF and the increase of food prices. However, De Schutter did not explain that correlations do not constitute satisfactory evidence in academic research and thus misled his readers into thinking that he had shown causal effects of FSF on the spot prices of food (Auerlich, Irwin, and Garcia, 2014; Irwin, 2012; Will and Pies, 2017).

Second, De Schutter might have been considered as an expert with relation to FSF due to his employment in relation with food within the UN. Yet, he did not discuss how his employment position affected his opinion and if he attempted to limit the biases resulting from that potential conflict of interest (De Schutter, 2010; 2011). De Schutter could therefore have leaned on an expert-status he enjoyed as UN-employee in order to seem objective. By doing so, De Schutter's contributions to the academic literature failed to comply with positionality guidelines (England, 1994; Mitchell, 2002).

Third, a number of economists claimed that De Schutter's aim to combat hunger pushed him to criticize FSF without seeking substantial proof for its potential negative effects (Auerlich, Irwin, and Garcia, 2014; Irwin, 2012; Will and Pies, 2017). While this hypothesis remains speculative, the lack of reflective thought provided by De Schutter in his papers forced other authors to consider his argumentation cautiously (De Schutter, 2010; 2011).

c) Summary

The last two sections have shown that Masters, White, and De Schutter failed to minimize methodological shortcomings and did not respect positionality theory guidelines satisfactorily in their academic contributions to the debate surrounding FSF. Those contributions should therefore be considered with precaution.

2) Econometric Studies

The following sections will look at the publications by two recognized economists which agreed with Masters, White, and De Schutter but used econometric means to support their argumentations.

a) Gilbert

Christopher Gilbert is an economist specialized in commodity trading. He provided multiple conclusive econometric tests indicating that FSF can affect food prices. Due to these numerous studies concerning the influence of FSF on food prices, Gilbert became one of the most renowned contributors to the debate surrounding FSF (Auerlich, Irwin, and Garcia, 2014; Chadwick, 2015; Gilbert, 2010; Gilbert and Pfuderer, 2014a; 2014b; Spratt, 2013).

In his publications, Gilbert presented his results with precaution in order to produce reflective work by limiting methodological shortcomings it could include and by respecting aspects of positionality theory.

First, Gilbert encouraged his readers to consider the results of his research cautiously, reminding them that econometric tests can be biased and that the lack of satisfactory dataset on FSF can increase those biases. Accordingly, Gilbert called for more research in order to create a substantive literature on the influence of FSF on food prices (Gilbert, 2010; Gilbert and Pfuderer, 2014a; 2014b). By being cautious with his results, Gilbert showed that he reflected on his work and its potential methodological limitations (Amoureux and Steele, 2016).

Second, Gilbert published two causality tests in the same study, one that indicated that FSF cannot influence food prices and one showing the contrary. He then explained why he believed that the second test was more adequate (Auerlich, Irwin, and Garcia, 2014; Gilbert and Pfuderer, 2014a). Amongst the authors discussed in the meta-analysis of this thesis, Gilbert is the only one to have provided an argument that supports the opposite of his expressed opinion. While this aspect could have been used by Gilbert in order to indicate his objectivity in the debate, he instead used his results to show that the econometric tests should not be considered as empirical truths (Chadwick, 2015; Gilbert and Pfuderer, 2014a; 2014b).

By providing this information, Gilbert explained that his work is also subject to biases linked to his subjectivity and thus respected positionality theory guidelines (Amoureux and Steele, 2016). Additionally, the fact that he questioned the relevance of econometric tests with respect to FSF shows that he did not take the expert-status enjoyed by economists for granted (Chadwick, 2015; Esmel, 2016; Gilbert and Pfuderer, 2014a; Mitchell, 2002).

As these examples have shown, Gilbert reflected on his work and took positionality theory into consideration when writing his studies. Nonetheless, Gilbert's papers are not flawless. Indeed, Gilbert did only cite papers written by economists in his work. While he did point out the relevance of economic papers which did not include econometric tests, he did not do the same for other studies (Gilbert, 2010; Gilbert and Pfuderer, 2014a; 2014b). This aspect could indicate that Gilbert was not ready to entirely question the legitimacy of the expert-status enjoyed by economists in the field of finance (Mitchell, 2002). As such, Gilbert indirectly participated in creating an arguably unjustified expert-status that enjoy economists regarding FSF (Chadwick, 2015).

The next section will review the work of Algieri, another economist who provided econometric evidence showing that FSF can affect food prices.

b) Algieri

Bernardina Algieri relied on econometric methods in order to claim that FSF can affect food prices (Algieri, 2014; 2016). Her studies have been considered as relevant and have been discussed by Will [et al.], Haase [et al.], and Irwin (Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman, 2016; Sanders and Irwin, 2015; 2017; Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016). In her studies, Algieri has deliberated on the multiple limitations of her research, both in terms of the methodology she used and in terms of her positionality.

First, she explained how econometric tests can yield diverging results concerning the influence of FSF on food prices because of differences in their methodological procedures and in the data-sets they use. Therefore, Algieri acknowledged that her results are not constituting satisfactory proof for an effect of FSF on food prices by themselves but have to be considered within a broader literature (Algieri, 2014; 2016). By doing so, Algieri indicated that she

reflected on her work and that she has understood that there can be limitations to the methodology she used (Amoureux and Steele, 2016).

Second, by questioning the relevance of a single econometric test with respect to FSF, Algieri indicated that she is aware of the limitations of such econometric tests and of the biases they can suffer from (Algieri, 2014; 2016). Hence, she decided not to make use of the expert-status enjoyed by economists in relation to FSF but instead decided to put it into perspective (England, 1994; Mitchell, 2002).

Third, Algieri mentioned her affiliations to the University departments she works for as well as the grant under which her research is funded in all her papers (Algieri, 2014; 2016). This position as a researcher constitutes the only potential conflicts of interest that Algieri holds (Università della Calabria, 2017). Therefore, Algieri indicated to her readers what biases her work could include due to her subjectivity with respect to her background and respected positionality theory guidelines (Adams, Khan, Raeside, et al., 2007; Amoureux and Steele, 2016).

Nevertheless, Algieri's papers also contained important limitations in their methodology and in terms of the ways they respected positionality theory.

First, Algieri did not include any paper not written by an economist in her studies. She did not provide any justification for that sources-selection (Algieri, 2014; 2016). Hence, Algieri might not have been ready to acknowledge the value of contributions made by scholars not providing economic arguments. Consequently, she participated in the creation of the idea that only economists disposed of the necessary knowledge in order to contribute to the academic debate surrounding FSF (Chadwick, 2015; Mitchell, 2002).

Second, Algieri did not explicitly discuss the influence her personal opinions as a researcher could have had on the papers she wrote. Indeed, while she did mention that her econometric research faced certain methodological limitations, she did not mention how her opinion could have affected her work (Algieri, 2014; 2016). Thus, Algieri possibly did not adequately reflect on the biases that could have arisen because of her subjectivity (England, 1994).

c) Summary

The last two sections showed that scholars who provided econometric evidence when arguing that FSF can affect food prices were reflective on their work. Although both discussed authors did not provide flawless research, they did reflect satisfactorily on the limits and biases of their work since academic work should not comply perfectly with positionality theory guidelines (Baron, 2016). In order to see how the limitations and strengths of the research of scholars such as Master, White, De Schutter, Gilbert, and Algieri affected the literature surrounding FSF, the next section will now look at a literature review which argued that FSF can affect food prices.

3) Critical Literature Review

Cheng and Xiong wrote a study in which they discussed the available literature on the debate surrounding FSF. In it, they critically reviewed the literature and discussed which scholars presented the more compelling argumentation. As Cheng and Xiong made clear, they did not believe that it is possible to prove the existence of a causal relation between FSF and food prices in a single study because financial markets involve a large number of complicated mechanisms and multiple actors whose actions can all influence the spot and future prices of food (Cheng and Xiong, 2014; Xiong, 2014).

In their critical literature review, Cheng and Xiong were cautious to reflect on their methodology and to adopt positionality theory guidelines.

First, Cheng and Xiong called for further research because they argued that the lack of representative data-sets on FSF did not yield adapted economic research accounting for the biases created by this imperfect data (Cheng and Xiong, 2014; Xiong, 2014). By doing so, Cheng and Xiong reflected on the shortcomings that can be found within the literature. Additionally, Cheng and Xiong also acknowledged that the literature's shortcomings have a snowball effect on the relevance of their critical literature review and that a literature review will only be able to assert any effect of FSF on the prices of food once those shortcomings will have been fixed (Cheng and Xiong, 2014). By providing that reflection, Cheng and Xiong indicated that they

understood the limitations of the methodology on which their critical literature is based (Amoureux and Steele, 2016).

Second, Cheng and Xiong were cautious when deliberating on the potential influence of FSF on food prices by mentioning the limitations of their work and the biases it could include. Thus, these economists indicated that they were aware of their subjectivity as researchers and that they reflected on their background and its influence on their opinion. Hence, these economists respected positionality theory guidelines (England, 1994).

Third, Cheng and Xiong decided to not rely on the expert-status they could have enjoyed as economists when discussing FSF (Mitchell, 2002). Instead, they opted to put said expert-status into perspective (Cheng and Xiong, 2014). Therefore, these economists indicated that they are aware that no researcher can be entirely objective (England, 1994).

However, Cheng and Xiong's literature review also contained a point worth criticizing. Indeed, these authors failed to take into account the work of scholars not belonging to the field of economics when reviewing the literature (Cheng and Xiong, 2014). By doing so, they contributed to strengthen the expert-status enjoyed by economists in the debate surrounding FSF even though they questioned it (Mitchell, 2002).

4) Critical Assessment

This chapter has shown that Masters, White, and De Schutter failed to respect positionality guidelines in their studies, which relied on questionable methodologies. Their research should therefore be considered with precaution. In contrast, Gilbert and Algieri were able to reflect on their work and based their research on adapted methodologies when they reasoned that FSF can affect food prices. The same can be said for the critical literature written by Cheng and Xiong which also concluded that FSF is likely to be able to affect the spot prices of food. Because said literature review leaned on the work of scholars such as Gilbert and Algieri, it avoided basing its argumentation on biased studies. As such, Cheng and Xiong's literature review remained as flawless as possible.

V. Refutational Synthesis

The following refutational synthesis will compare the results found in the two parts of the meta-data analysis. Specifically, it will compare the quality of the methodology and reflectivity proposed by the reviewed papers. Based on this comparison, the refutational synthesis will explain the reasons for which the scholars claiming that FSF can affect food prices present the more compelling argumentation.

1) Non-Econometric Studies

Both parts of the meta-data analysis reviewed the work of authors who wrote non-econometric studies in order to discuss the influence of FSF on food prices. As the meta-data analysis has shown, these studies leaned either on economic theory or on observations of strong correlations between the rise in FSF and the increase in food prices.

In terms of methodology, the considered authors indicated that their main aim was not to prove the existence of a causal relation between increases in FSF and rises in the spot prices of food. Instead, they aimed to provide other insights into the debate (De Schutter, 2010; 2011; Krugman, 2008; 2011; Masters and White, 2008). However, by blurring the line between correlation and causality, these authors misrepresented the results of their research, which should thus be considered with precaution.

In terms of positionality theory, none of the non-econometric papers the meta-data analysis reviewed reflected satisfactorily on their authors' personal biases. Indeed, Krugman misrepresented the available literature on FSF, arguing that no empirical study had shown that FSF could affect food prices while such studies existed (Krugman, 2008; 2011). De Schutter, Masters, and White, for their part, failed to indicate if and how they reflected on their subjectivity and attempted to limit the biases that could have emerged from it (De Schutter, 2010; 2011; Masters and White, 2008). This failure to respect on their subjectivity constitutes another reason why their research should be cautiously considered (Amoureux and Steele, 2016). Finally, De Schutter, Krugman, Masters, and White all relied on an expert-status they enjoyed either due to either their economic background or to their affiliation to the UN in order to gain credibility in their argumentation (De Schutter, 2010; 2011; Krugman, 2008;

2011; Masters and White, 2008). By not discussing that expert-status and by not putting it into perspective, these scholars possibly hoped to be considered as objective in their research. This aspect further limits the relevance of their academic contributions (Mitchell, 2002).

The next section of this refutational synthesis will compare the results work of scholars which provided econometric tests in order to discuss if FSF can or cannot affect food prices.

2) Econometric Studies

The second group of studies the meta-data analysis of this thesis reviewed were papers which provided causality tests, contemporaneous tests, rank-order tests, and other econometric computations in order to support their argumentation (Algieri, 2014; 2016; Auerlich, Irwin, and Garcia, 2014; Gilbert, 2010; Gilbert and Pfuderer, 2014a; 2014b; Irwin, 2012; Irwin, Sanders, and Merrin, 2009; Liao-Etienne, Irwin, and Garcia, 2012; Sanders and Irwin, 2015; 2017; Stoll and Whaley, 2010; 2011).

In terms of methodology, all scholars who provided econometric tests within the debate surrounding FSF which the meta-data analysis reviewed refused to acknowledge the value of contributions by non-economists. In addition, Irwin, Stoll, and Whaley failed to reflect on the ways inadequate data-sets on FSF affected their work and could have biased their results (Auerlich, Irwin, and Garcia, 2014; Irwin, 2012; Irwin, Sanders, and Merrin, 2009; Liao-Etienne, Irwin, and Garcia, 2012; Sanders and Irwin, 2015; 2017; Stoll and Whaley, 2010; 2011). Gilbert and Algieri, on the other hand, reflected on that aspect and discussed it, without however having found a solution in order to limit said biases (Algieri, 2014; 2016; Gilbert, 2010; Gilbert and Pfuderer, 2014a; 2014b).

In terms of respect of positionality theory guidelines, Irwin, Stoll, and Whaley failed to disclose their personal implications in the financial groups and did thus not provide information on their potential conflicts of interest (Auerlich, Irwin, and Garcia, 2014; Irwin, 2012; Irwin, Sanders, and Merrin, 2009; Sanders and Irwin, 2015; 2017; Liao-Etienne, Irwin, and Garcia, 2012; Stoll and Whaley, 2010; 2011). Furthermore, Irwin, Stoll, and Whaley failed to reflect on their subjectivity in their papers and thus might not have attempted to limit the biases tha could have originated from their potential partiality (Amoureux and Steele, 2016).

While Algieri did not reflect on the ways her background could have biased her work either, Gilbert and her discussed the limitations of their findings and provided clear guidelines for further research on the subject (Algieri, 2014; 2016; Gilbert, 2010; Gilbert and Pfuderer, 2014a; 2014b). By doing so, these economists arguing that FSF can affect food prices respected positionality guidelines satisfactorily (Amoureux and Steele, 2016).

As this section has shown, none of the economists discussing the influence of FSF on the spot prices of food with econometric means complied perfectly with positionality theory. Yet, the papers written by Gilbert and Algieri were significantly more respective of positionality theory guidelines than the ones written by Irwin, Stoll, and Whaley. Hence, this refutational synthesis argues that, according to positionality theory, the econometric studies which claimed that FSF cannot affect food prices should be considered with much more precaution than the econometric studies which found that FSF can affect food prices. The following section discusses the meta-studies on the academic debate surrounding FSF.

3) Meta-Studies

The third group of studies the meta-data analysis of this thesis reviewed were quantitative meta-studies, both of which concluded that FSF cannot affect food prices.

In terms of methodology, the meta-studies relied on the assumption that if a majority of the papers they analyzed claimed that FSF was not able to affect the spot prices of food, this was sufficient to constitue satisfactory evidence (Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman, 2016; Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016). This assumption has to be questioned because a new discovery within an academic debate can disprove previous findings even if the latter are much more numerous (Border, Johnson, Evans, et al., 2019). Furthermore, the large amount of contributions to the academic debate surrounding FSF by authors such as Irwin and Gilbert further skew the results of such quantitative meta-studies. Besides, the meta-study by Will [et al.] includes a small data-sample and made errors in its interpretation of said sample, further limiting its relevance (Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016). Moreover, this meta-study was contested for its results as other scholars reviewed the data it included and found evidence supporting the idea that FSF can affect food prices (Bozorgmehr, Gabrysch, Müller, et al., 2013). For its part, the meta-study written by Haase [et al.] doubtfully assumed that if 25% of its primary

sources found a positive effect of FSF on food prices and 25% found a negative effect, those numbers cancel each-other out (Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman, 2016).

In terms of compliance with positionality theory, Haase [et al.] reflected on their' subjectivity in their paper selection. However, both meta-studies misinterpreted the importance of primary sources which reflected on the limitations of their studies (Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman, 2016; Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016). Thus, both studies indicated that they misunderstood positionality theory (Amoureux and Steele, 2016). Haase [et al.] further failed to disclose the fact that the Swiss Confederation ordered their meta-study with the intention to get academic support for its claim that FSF cannot affect food prices (*Arena*, 2016; Haase, Seiler Zimmerman, and Zimmerman, 2016). By doing so, these authors hid a potential conflict of interest they could have had when writing their paper and relied on the assumption that, as economists, they would not be affected by such biases (Mitchell, 2002). Will [et al.], on their side, failed to reflect on the limitations of their study and did not attempt to minimize the biases their research could face due to their personal backgrounds (Will, Prehn, Pies, et al., 2016). Thus, they also failed to respect positionality theory guidelines (England, 1994).

Because both meta-studies reviewed in the meta-data analysis of this thesis presented serious methodological and positionality shortcomings, they have to be considered with much caution. The next section will compare the two critical literature reviews analyzed in the meta-data analysis of this thesis in order to see how they differ from the reviewed meta-studies in the quality of their methodology and their compliance with positionality theory.

4) Critical Literature Reviews

The critical literature reviews analyzed in the meta-data analysis of this thesis each proposed a review of the academic debate surrounding FSF. According to their critical analysis of the discussed literature, the authors of both critical literature reviews then gave their opinion on the potential influence of FSF on food prices (Boyd, Harris, and Li, 2018; Cheng and Xiong, 2014).

In terms of methodology, Boyd [et al.] argued that their critical analysis showed that FSF was unlikely to be able to affect the spot prices of food (Boyd, Harris, and Li, 2018). On the other hand, Cheng and Xiong claimed that their critical review of the academic literature on FSF indicated the contrary (Cheng and Xiong, 2014). Both critical literature reviews are qualitative, which allows their authors to interpret the different contributions to the academic debate surrounding FSF while using precaution when taking papers with questionable content into consideration. As such, both critical literature reviews are based on an academically relevant methodology, even though none of them took the contribution of non-economists to the debate surrounding FSF into consideration.

In terms of positionality theory, both studies reflected on the limited relevance of the results presented in a single study because of potential flaws those could include (Boyd, Harris, and Li, 2018; Cheng and Xiong, 2014). Besides, the authors of both critical literature reviews reflected on the limitations of their papers. As such, both critical literature reviews satisfactorily respected positionality theory guidelines (Amoureux and Steele, 2016).

Yet, because these literature reviews were based on the findings of primary sources, the relevance of the latter needs to be taken into consideration when comparing the two literature reviews. Indeed, if a critical literature review leans on the argumentation of previous studies which left conflicts of interest undisclosed or relied on a flawed methodology, the literature review will perpetuate these errors instead of correcting them. Such a lack of critical thinking towards previous studies can have large negative effects, as the study written by Border [et al.] has shown. Indeed, the latter invalidated more than 1'000 previous studies because they relied on an assumption Border [et al.] disproved (Border, Johnson, Evans, et al., 2019).

5) Discussion

The literature reviews written by Boyd [et al.] and by Cheng and Xiong are both based on a satisfactory methodology and both respect positionality theory guidelines. Yet, this cannot be said about all the primary sources their final argumentation leans on.

Indeed, the meta-data analysis showed that authors who did not use econometric means in their studies failed to respect positionality theory satisfactorily and leaned on questionable methodologies when discussing the potential influence of FSF on food prices. The same can be said for the studies written by Irwin, Stoll, and Whaley, three economists who claimed that FSF cannot affect the spot prices of food by basing their argumentation on econometric tests, and for the meta-studies written by Will [et al.] and Haase [et al.]. On the other hand, Gilbert and Algieri, two economists which relied on economic tests in order to show that FSF can affect food prices, were able to respect positionality theory guidelines satisfactorily and were aware of the limitations of their methodology. Consequently, Cheng and Xiong presented a more compelling argumentation than Boyd [et al.] because they leaned on the studies of Gilbert and Algieri rather than on the studies written by Irwin, Stoll, Whaley, and Pies. Hence, this refutational synthesis concludes that FSF is likely to have affected food prices during the food crises of 2008 – 2009 and 2010 – 2011.

Nonetheless, this thesis acknowledges that its scope is too small in order to be certain of its conclusion. Indeed, the critical interpretive synthesis it proposes would require to analyze a larger sample of primary sources in order to assert its conclusion with more certainty. Furthermore, the conclusion of this critical interpretive synthesis is limited in its relevance because the primary sources it relies on analyzed data-sets with imperfect adequacy to reality. Nevertheless, it brings valuable new insights into the debate surrounding FSF and shows that the latter should be put into perspective because a large number of its contributors failed to indicate how their personal interests affected the work they published.

VI. Conclusion

Since the formulation of the Masters Hypothesis in 2008, an academic debate has developed around the question if financial speculation on foodstuffs can affect food prices. While scholars were quick to point out that FSF was not the main driver of the surges in prices during the 2008 – 2009 and 2010 – 2011 food crises, a number of them nonetheless reasoned that FSF amplified the effects of those crises. On the other hand, a number of economists declared that this was not the case and that FSF cannot affect food prices. Scholars such as Chadwick and Esmel then argued that while those economists were claiming to take part in the academic debate concerning the influence of FSF on food prices from objective standpoints, they had personal interests in the field of finance. In order to verify that claim, this thesis applied a critical interpretive synthesis to the academic literature on the debate surrounding FSF according to positionality theory.

As this critical interpretive synthesis showed, a significant body of the academic literature claiming that FSF cannot affect food prices included methodological flaws and failed to comply with positionality theory guidelines. While the same can be said about some authors claiming that FSF can affect food prices, a number of them provided satisfactory evidence all while respecting positionality theory and using recognized methodological procedures.

Thus, the research question:

Have positionality theory guidelines been respected by scholars participating in the debate concerning the influence of FSF on food prices and how did this affect their results?

can be answered on the provisional grounds of this thesis followingly:

Only the scholars presenting critical literature reviews on the academic debate surrounding FSF and the economists providing econometric tests showing that FSF can affect food prices respected positionality theory guidelines satisfactorily. Other scholars participating in the debate did not reflect on their subjectivity and their results might therefore have been biased. Consequently, the studies written by these scholars should be considered with much precaution. Because the ability of critical literature reviews to remain as little biased as possible is affected by the quality of the research they are based on, the

literature review written by Boyd [et al.] should also be considered cautiously. Hence, this critical interpretive synthesis concluded that it was likely that FSF could affect food prices.

Nonetheless, this critical interpretive synthesis is subject to a number of limitations. First, because of its nature as a qualitative meta-analysis, it is intrinsically linked to its author's subjectivity in its data selection, its meta-data analysis, and its refutational synthesis. As such, it captures a specific knowledge situated in a particular perspective. Yet, as positionality theory explains it, subjective perspectives should be considered as valuable academic research as long as the biases emerging from that subjectivity are minimized. Second, a critical interpretive synthesis aims to provide an oversimplified presentation of the literature and its conclusion is thus limited by the range of primary sources it considers. This is particularly true in the case of this thesis as its limited length required its meta-data analysis to concentrate on a relatively small sample of primary sources. This thesis should thus be considered as a source for more in-debt research but can still provide valuable new insights into the debate surrounding FSF.

Having said all this, the results obtained in this thesis are relevant to the academic debate surrounding FSF as they show the flaws present in existing studies. As such, this thesis proposes a reconsideration of the academic literature due to the biases it contains. Furthermore, this thesis' findings underline the necessity of a reliable worldwide database concerning speculation on commodities. If such a database is not provided, the dispute between scholars discussing FSF will probably not be settled.

Future research should aim to produce other meta-analyses on a broader range of studies which contributed to the academic debate surrounding FSF. Such meta-analyses could provide more precise reflections on the existing academic literature. Those meta-analyses could then either strengthen or refute the argumentation provided in this critical interpretive synthesis. Additionally, further meta-analyses could focus on different aspects of the literature than positionality theory in order to see how the obtained results would diverge from the results of this thesis.

VII. Bibliography

Adams, John, Khan, Hafiz T.A., Raeside, Robert, White, David, *Research Methods for Graduate Business and Social Science Students* (New Delhi: Response Books, 2007), 270.

Africa Research Bulletin, "Food Prices: Change of Tack on Commodity Speculation", Africa Research Bulletin: Economic, Financial and Technical Series 50, no. 2 (April 2013), 19887A – 19887B.

Algieri, Bernardina, "A roller coaster ride: an empirical investigation of the main drivers of the international wheat price", *Agricultural Economics* 45 (2014), 459 – 475.

Algieri, Bernardina, "Conditional price volatility, speculation, and excessive speculation in commodity markets: sheep or shepherd behavior?", *International Review of Applied Economics* 30, no. 2 (January 2016), 210 – 237.

Amoureux, Jack L., Steele, Brent J., *Reflexivity and International Relations: Positionality, critique, and practice* (New York: Routledge, 2016), 285.

Arena, "Abstimmungs-Arena: Initiative gegen Nahrungsmittelspekulation", Schweizer Radio und Fernsehen (SRF), Aired on January 15, 2016.

Aulerich, Nicole M., Irwin, Scott H., Garcia, Philip, "Bubbles, Food-prices, and Speculation: Evidence from the CFTC's Daily Large Trader Data Files", *The Economics of Food Price Volatility* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2014), 211 – 253.

Bar-Yam, Yavni, Lagi, Marco, Bar-Yam, Yaneer, "South African Riots: Repercussion of the Global Food Crisis and US drought", *Conflict and Complexity* (New York: Springer, 2015), 261 – 267.

Barnett-Page, Elaine, Thomas, James, "Methods for the synthesis of qualitative research: a critical review", *BMC Medical Research Methodology* 9, no. 59 (August 2009), 11.

Baron, Ilan Z., "Reflexivity, critique, and the Jewish Diaspora", *Reflexivity and International Relations: Positionality, critique, and practice* (New York: Routledge, 2016), 179 – 200.

Booth, Philip, "Commodity Speculation: Does it Harm the Poor?", unpublished text of a paper read at the conference *In Dialogue With Laudato Si': Can Free Markets Help Us Care for Our Common Home?*, December 3, 2015, 6.

Border, Richard, Johnson, Emma C., Evans, Luke M., Smolen, Andrew, Berley, Noah, Sullivan, Patrick, Keller, Matthew C., "No Support for Historical Candidate Gene or Candidate Gene-by-Interaction Hypotheses for Major Depression Across Multiple Large Samples", *American Journal of Psychiatry* 176, no. 5 (May 2019), 376 – 387.

Boyd, Naomi E., Harris, Jeffrey H., Li, Bingxin, "An update on speculation and financialization in commodity markets", *Journal of Commodity Markets* 10 (June 2018), 91 – 104.

Bozorgmehr, Kayvan, Gabrysch, Sabine, Müller, Olav, Neuhann, Florian, Jordan, Irmgard, Knipper, Michael, Razum, Oliver, "Relationship between financial speculation and food prices or price volatility: applying the principles of evidence-based medicine to current debates in Germany", *Globalization and Health* 9, no. 44 (December 2013), 1 – 4.

Chadwick, Anna, "Food Commodity Speculation, Hunger, and the Global Food Crisis: Whither Regulation", PhD diss., The London School of Economics and Political Science (LSE), 2015, 335.

Chapman, Megan S., "Rising Global Food Prices: The Need for Re-Regulating Commodity Futures", *Sustainable Development Law & Policy* 9, no. 1 (Fall 2008), 43 – 44.

Cheng, Ing-Haw, Xiong, Wei, "The Financialization of Commodity Markets", Annual Review of Financial Economics 6, no. 1 (December 2014), 419 – 441.

De Schutter, Olivier, "Food Commodities Speculation and Food Price Crises: Regulation to reduce the risks of price volatility", *United Nations Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food Briefing Note* 2 (Genève: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, 2010), 14.

De Schutter, Olivier, Mandate of the Special Rapporteur on the right to food: Observations on the current food price situation (Genève: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, 2011), 4.

Dixon-Woods, Mary, Cavers, Debbie, Agarwal, Shona, Annandale, Ellen, Arthur, Antony, Harvey, Janet, Hsu, Ron, Katbamna, Savita, Olsen, Richard, Smith, Lucy, Riley, Richard, Sutton, Alex J., "Conducting a critical interpretive synthesis of the literature on access to healthcare by vulnerable groups", *BMC Medical Research Methodology* 6, no. 35 (July 2007), 13.

Emekter, Riza, Jirasakuldech, Benjamas, Went, Peter, "Rational speculative bubbles and commodities markets: application of duration dependence test", *Applied Financial Economics* 22, no. 7 (2012), 581 – 596.

England, Kim V. L., "Getting Personal: Reflexivity, Positionality, and Feminist Research", *The Professional Geographer* 46, no. 1 (February 1994), 80 – 89.

Esmel, Alexandra, "Food Speculation: Between Virtual ... and Reality", *American University International Law Review* 31, no. 4 (August 2016), 507 – 544.

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), FAO Food Outlook: Global Market Analysis (Rome: Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, 2010), 103.

FAO, IFAD, IMF, OECD, UNCTAD, WFP, World Bank, WTO, IFPRI, UN HLTF, *Price Volatility in Food and Agricultural Markets: Policy Responses* (Rome: Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, 2011), 68.

Gilbert, Christopher L., *Speculative Influences on Commodity Futures Prices 2006-2008* (Geneva: United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, 2010), 38.

Gilbert, Christopher L., Pfuderer, Simone, "The role of index trading in price formation in the grains and oilseeds markets", *Journal of Agricultural Economics* 65, no. 2 (June 2014a), 303 – 322.

Gilbert, Christopher L., Pfuderer, Simone, "The financialization of food commodity markets", Handbook on Food: Demand, Supply, Sustainability and Security (Cheltenham: Edward Elgar, 2014b), 122 – 148.

Girardi, Daniele, "Do financial investors affect the price of wheat?", *PSL Quarterly Review* 65, no. 260 (2012), 79 – 109.

Goceljak, George W., Financial Institutions and the Global Farming Industry: the Impacts of Large-Scale Agricultural Investments Observed in Ethiopia, Undergraduate Senior Project, Bard College, 2017, 79.

Haase, Marco, Seiler Zimmermann, Yvonne, Zimmermann, Heinz, "The impact of speculation on commodity futures markets – A review of the findings of 100 empirical studies", *Journal of Commodity Markets* 3, no. 1 (September 2016), 1 - 15.

Hart, Chris, *Doing a Literature Review: Releasing the Social Science Research Imagination* (London: Sage Publications, 1998), 230.

Headey, Derek, Fan, Shenggen, "Anatomy of a crisis: the causes and consequences of surging food-prices", *Agricultural Economics* 39 (November 2008), 375 – 391.

Headey, Derek, *Food-prices and Poverty Reduction in the Long Run* (Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute, 2014), 26.

Hendrix, Cullen, Haggard, Stephan, Magaloni, Beatriz, "Grievance and Opportunity: Food Prices, Political Regime, and Protest", paper prepared for the *International Studies Association convention, New York*, February 15 – 18, 2009, 36.

Holt-Giménez, Eric, Patel, Raj, *Food Rebellions: Crisis and the Hunger for Justice* (Oakland: Food First Books, 2009), 268.

Interactive Brokers Group Inc., Form 8-K *Current Report: Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934* (Washington, D.C.: United States Securities and Exchange Commission, 2016), 3.

Irwin, Scott H., "Does the Masters Hypothesis Explain Recent Food Price Spikes", paper prepared for the *International Association of Agricultural Economists (IAAE) Triennial Conference*, August 18-24, 2012, 38.

Irwin, Scott H., Sanders, Dwight R., Merrin, Robert P., "Devil or Angel? The Role of Speculation in the Recent Commodity Price Boom (and Bust)", *Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics* 41, no. 2 (August 2009), 377 – 391.

Kocieniewski, David, "Academics Who Defend Wall St. Reap Reward", *The New York Times*, December 27, 2013.

Krugman, Paul, "Speculative nonsense once again," *The New York Times*, June 23, 2008
Krugman, Paul, "Signatures of Speculation", *The New York Times*, February 7, 2011.

Lagi, Marco, Bar-Yam, Yavni, Bertrand, Karla Z., Bar-Yam, Yaneer, *The Food Crises: A quantitative model of food prices including speculators and ethanol conversion* (Cambridge: New England Complex Systems Institute, 2011), 56.

Liao-Etienne, Xiaoli, Irwin, Scott H., Garcia, Philip, "Price Explosiveness and Index Trader Behavior in the Corn, Soybean, and Whet Futures Markets", paper prepared for the *NCCC-134 Conference on Applied Commodity Price Analysis, Forecasting, and Market Risk Management*, April 16-17, 2012, 23.

Masters, Michael W., White, Adam K., *The Accidental Hunt Brothers: How Institutional Investors Are Driving Up Food And Energy Prices* (Published by Masters and White, 2008), special report, 58.

McMichael, Philip, "A food regime analysis of the 'world food crisis'", *Agriculture and human values* 26, no. 4 (July 2009), 281 – 295.

Mitchell, Timothy, *Rule of Experts: Egypt, Techno-Politics, Modernity* (Berkeley: University of California Press, 2002), 413.

Noblit, George W., Hare, R. Dwight, *Meta-Ethnography: Synthesizing Qualitative Studies* (Newbury Park: Sage Publications, 1988), 88.

Rapier, Graham, "The creator of Wall Street's 'fear gauge' says people don't understand it as well as they should", *Business Insider*, September 11, 2017.

Sanders, Dwight R., Irwin, Scott H., "Bubbles, Froth and Facts: Another Look at the Masters Hypothesis in Commodity Futures Markets", *Journal of Agricultural Economics* 68, no. 2 (June 2017), 345 – 365.

Sanders, Dwight R., Irwin, Scott H., "Bubbles, Froth and Facts: What Evidence is there to Support the Masters Hypothesis?", paper prepared for the *NCCC-134 Conference on Applied Commodity Price Analysis*, April 20-21, 2015, 24.

Spratt, Stephen, *Food price volatility and financial speculation* (Brighton: Future Agricultures Consortium, 2013), 21.

Stoll, Hans R., Whaley, Robert E., "Commodity Index Investing: *Speculation or Diversification?*", *The Journal of Alternative Investments* 14, no. 1 (July 2011), 50 – 56.

Stoll, Hans R., Whaley, Robert E., "Commodity Index Investing and Commodity Futures Prices", Journal of Applied Finance 20, no. 1 (January 2010), 7 – 46.

Timmer, C. Peter, *Did Speculation Affect World Rice Prices?* (Rome: The Agricultural Development Economics Division (ESA) of the Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations (FAO), 2009), 43.

Timmer, C. Peter, *Food Security and Scarcity: Why Ending Hunger is so Hard* (Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 2015), 213.

Timmer, C. Peter, "Reflections on food crises past", *Food Policy* 35, no. 1 (February 2010), 1 – 11.

Timmer, C. Peter, "Rice Price Formation in the Short Run and the Long Run", *Global Uncertainty and the Volatility of Agricultural Commodities Prices* (Washington, D.C.: IOA Press, 2012), 151 – 184.

Timulak, Ladislav, "Chapter 33: Qualitative Meta-Analysis", *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Data Analysis* (London: Sage Publications, 2014), 481 – 495.

Università della Calabria, Bernardina Algieri: CV (Rende: Università della Calabria, 2017), 7.

Università degli Studi di Trento, *Curriculum Vitae: Christopher Gilbert* (Trento: Università degli Studi di Trento, 2013), 16.

Vander Stichele, Myriam, Kerckhoffs, Thijs, Van Os, Roos, Financial Food: Financialisation and Financial Actors in Agriculture Commodity Markets (Amsterdam: Centre for Research on Multinational Corporations, 2010), 12.

Vanderbilt University, Hans R. Stoll: The Anne Marie and Thomas B. Walker Jr. Professor of Finance (Nashville: Owen Graduate School of Management, Vanderbilt University, 2011), 16.

Van Huellen, Sophie, "How financial investment distorts food prices: evidence from U.S. grain markets", *Agricultural Economics* 49, no. 2 (March 2018), 171 – 181.

Will, Matthias G., Pies, Ingo, "Discourse Failures and the NGO Sector: How Campaigning Can Undermine Advocacy", *Voluntas* 28, no. 3 (June 2017), 1078 – 1109.

Will, Matthias G., Prehn, Sören, Pies, Ingo, Glauben, Thomas, *Does financial speculation with agricultural commodities cause hunger? A reply to our critics* (Halle: Chair of Economics Ethics, Martin Luther University of Halle-Wittenberg, 2013), 10.

Will, Matthias G., Prehn, Sören, Pies, Ingo, Glauben, Thomas, "Is Financial Speculation with Agricultural Commodities Harmful or Helpful?: A Literature Review of Empirical Research", *The Journal of Alternative Instruments* 18, no. 3 (January 2016), 84 – 102.

Xiong, Wei, "The Financialization of Commodity Markets", *NBER Reporter Issue 2* (Cambridge, Massachusetts, National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER), 2014), 20 – 23.

Yong, Ed, "A Waste of 1,000 Research Papers", The Atlantic, May 17, 2019.